**FILED** 04-20-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP267-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

MITCHELL D. GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW AND APPENDIX

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857  $(608)\ 267-3519$ (608) 294-2907 (Fax) blimlingja@doj.state.wi.us

#

#### INTRODUCTION

During the trial of Defendant-Appellant Mitchell D. Green for sex trafficking a 17-year-old girl, the defense introduced testimony it had not noticed before trial as third-party perpetrator evidence—that of Green's cousin, Jonathan Cousin, who testified that it was he, not Green, who had driven the victim to a prostitution "date" on the night in question. The circuit court, concerned about the testimony both because it was not properly noticed as third-party perpetrator evidence and because Cousin testified without the advice of counsel, declared a mistrial *sua sponte*.

As the State prepared to re-try the case, Green moved to dismiss the charges against him on the basis that a second trial would violate his constitutional right against double jeopardy because. Green claimed, there was no manifest necessity for a mistrial in his first trial. The circuit court denied the motion, and Green petitioned the court of appeals for leave to appeal. The court of appeals granted Green's petition and reversed the circuit court's denial of Green's motion to dismiss. The court of appeals concluded that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because the circuit court subsequently decided that Cousin's testimony would indeed be admissible at the second trial and because any issue with Cousin's testifying without counsel was an issue for any possible case against Cousin, not the case against Green. The court of appeals remanded the case with instructions to dismiss the charges against Green with prejudice.

The State asks this Court to grant review of the court of appeals' decision. The court of appeals incorrectly applied the erroneous exercise of discretion standard, ignoring the circuit court's key concerns about fairness to the State in declaring a mistrial and implicitly calling into question the ability of circuit courts to require certain evidence to be vetted ahead of

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 5 of 15

time. This Court's review will help clarify the law in the area of mistrials and double jeopardy by offering guidance to litigants and circuit courts.

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it concluded that there was a manifest necessity for a mistrial after Green introduced unnoticed third-party perpetrator evidence at trial via the testimony of a witness who claimed to have committed the crime but was unrepresented by counsel?

#### STATEMENT OF CRITERIA SUPPORTING REVIEW

The issue presented by this petition presents a "real and significant question of federal . . . constitutional law." *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). Specifically, this case involves the State's ability to re-try Green for his role in a sex trafficking ring that victimized an underage girl. Without this Court's review, the court of appeals' erroneous decision will prevent the State from having even the opportunity to hold Green accountable.

The issue presented also "is a question of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3. Litigants and courts need clarity on the ability of a trial court to declare a mistrial when a defendant introduces evidence that was required to be noticed before trial. The court of appeals' opinion suggested that there was no manifest necessity for a mistrial because an eventual evidentiary hearing determined that the evidence would be admissible. But that hearing occurred after the fact—months after the mistrial. This Court should grant review and clarify whether a trial court must conduct an evidentiary hearing mid-trial in order to determine whether there is a manifest necessity for a mistrial.

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 6 of 15

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In a criminal complaint dated March 3, 2019, the State charged Green with one count each of trafficking of a child, physical abuse of a child, and disorderly conduct. (R. 1:1.) Police identified Green as a suspect when he entered the courtroom during a jury trial for a man named Kimeo Conley in February of 2019. (R. 1:2; 82:75.) Conley was on trial for trafficking the testifying witness, S.A.B., in late 2018. (R. 1:2.) Green's entrance caused S.A.B. to stop talking and ask for a break. (R. 1:2.)

During the break, S.A.B. identified Green to police as "Money Mitch," who police knew to be a suspected co-actor in Conley's case. (R. 1:2.) On one occasion when Conley was out of town, Green drove S.A.B. to a prostitution meeting at the Marriott in downtown Milwaukee. R. 1:2.remembered the evening distinctly because her abuser spit in her mouth, causing her to vomit. (R. 1:2.) After S.A.B. received payment and left the Marriott, Green took all of the money. (R. 1:2.) Then on December 4, 2018, police arrested Conley. (R. 1:2.) Green confronted S.A.B., accusing her of talking to the police. (R. 1:2.) Green punched S.A.B. in the face with a closed fist, pointed a gun at her, threatened to kill her, and took her phone. (R. 1:2.) At the time of these incidents, S.A.B. was 17 years old. (R. 1:2.)

Green's case proceeded to trial. On August 21, 2019, Green filed a witness list that included two names, one of which was Green's cousin, Jonathan Cousin. (R. 18:1.) The next day, the State filed an omnibus pretrial motion in limine. (R. 21:1.) One of the items in the motion sought an order "[p]rohibiting the defense from introducing any other-acts evidence involving a third-party perpetrator" unless the evidence was previously ruled admissible by the court. (R. 21:2.) At a hearing that same day, the court acknowledged

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 7 of 15

receipt of the State's motion; at no time did Green object to any of the State's requests. (R. 73:2.)

Green's trial began on January 27, 2020. (R. 80.) On the first day, S.A.B. testified about her experiences with Conley and Green. (R. 82:68–78.) S.A.B. specifically stated that Green drove her to the prostitution meeting at the downtown Marriott and said that although she did not remember the specific date that the meeting occurred, it stood out to her because of the man spitting in her mouth. (R. 82:70.) On the second day of trial, Milwaukee Police Officer Gerardo Orozco testified about his work with the FBI Human Trafficking Task Force and his investigation into Green. (R. 83:4–7, 18–24.) Following Officer Orozco's testimony, the State rested. (R. 83:78.)

Green's first witness was Cousin. (R. 83:78.) Cousin testified that he was the one who gave S.A.B. the ride to the Marriott on the evening she described. (R. 83:85.) He claimed that he agreed to give a man named Delmar and two other people—S.A.B. and a man named J.R.—a ride downtown in exchange for gas money. (R. 83:85–86.) According to Cousin, when they arrived downtown, Delmar asked him to wait in exchange for more money, and Cousin agreed. (R. 83:87.) About 15 minutes later, Cousin said, S.A.B. and J.R. returned to the car and S.A.B. mentioned the man spitting in her mouth to J.R. (R. 83:87–88.) The State then briefly cross-examined Cousin about inconsistencies in his story, his knowledge that prostitution was occurring, and his relationship with Green. (R. 83:90–93.) The court then took a recess for lunch. (R. 83:93.)

After the break, the court stated that there had been an off-the-record discussion for about five minutes in which the State expressed concern about Cousin's testimony. (R. 86:2.) The court stated that it shared the State's concern. (R. 86:2.) The State noted that it was never notified that Green

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 8 of 15

intended to use Cousin as a *Denny*<sup>1</sup> witness and that there was "no *Denny* investigation, no *Denny* motion hearing, and no ruling on the admissibility of that evidence." (R. 86:3.) The State further commented that Cousin had effectively admitted to his involvement in trafficking S.A.B. without having been advised by counsel. (R. 86:4–5.)

The court explained that it saw two main issues: whether Cousin "did or did not need . . . counsel before he testified," and "the *Denny* issue, which wraps together with the whole, both sides have a right to a fair trial issue." (R. 86:9.) Green argued that Cousin was not necessarily offering *Denny* evidence because there was no specificity as to the dates on which Green and Cousin allegedly drove S.A.B., but the court replied that if Cousin's testimony was not meant to suggest that Cousin had driven S.A.B. instead of Green, then Cousin's testimony was completely irrelevant. (R. 86:13–14.) Green continued to argue that Cousin had not actually admitted to committing a crime, but the court disagreed, saying that "the State has enough to arguably get past probable cause right now based on what [Cousin] said on the stand." (R. 86:19.)

After further discussion by the parties, the court recapped Cousin's testimony, concluding that "[t]he only purpose for Mr. Cousin to testify is to take the fall for Mr. Green . . . ." (R. 86:26–28.) The court considered a curative instruction, but it reasoned that an instruction would be ineffective because it would require the jury to disregard approximately 25 minutes of testimony. (R. 86:29.) It also noted that it was not fair to the State for Cousin's testimony to be offered without notice, and that it should have been vetted in advance:

 $^{1}$   $State\ v.\ Denny,\ 120$  Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984).

8

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 9 of 15

I'm not sure that I would have allowed Mr. Cousin to testify. I would have needed it to be vetted bit more. I would have wanted to hear more of an argument and briefing from both sides as to the *Denny* issues. It strikes me as very, very problematic, and I agree with the State that it clearly is *Denny* evidence.

(R. 86:30.)

Most importantly, the court reasoned, there was no way "that that bell can be unrung, because of the gravity of the testimony, because of *Denny* evidence, [and] because there were only three witnesses in this case." (R. 86:31.) Thus, the court concluded, "the circumstances require[d] a mistrial." (R. 86:32.) It said that the matter would be reset for a new trial date, and that the *Denny* issue should be resolved before the second trial. (R. 86:33.)

After the mistrial, Green filed a motion to dismiss the case, arguing that retrial would violate his constitutional right against double jeopardy. (R. 42.) The State responded, arguing that the mistrial was necessary. (R. 46:2–6.) The State also argued that the defense's treatment of Cousin as an uncounseled party should disqualify Green's attorney from continuing on the case. (R. 46:6–10.) The court denied the motion to dismiss at a hearing on June 22, 2020. (R. 88:5.) The court stated that Cousin's testimony had "blindsided" the State, and that "there were no legitimate alternatives at that point in time other than a mistrial." (R. 88:5.)

Following the court's denial of the motion to dismiss, Green's counsel withdrew in light of the State's request to disqualify him. (R. 89:5.) After a delay for a change in counsel, Green moved the circuit court to reconsider its decision. (R. 58.) The State filed a response (R. 62), and the circuit court denied reconsideration (R. 63). Green then filed a petition for leave to appeal the circuit court's decision (R. 66), which the court of appeals granted (R. 64).

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 10 of 15

In an opinion dated March 22, 2022, the court of appeals reversed the circuit court's denial of Green's motion to dismiss. (Pet-App. 3–12.) The court concluded that retrial would violate Green's constitutional right against double jeopardy because there was no "manifest necessity" for the mistrial during his first trial. (Pet-App. 4.) The court reasoned that because the circuit court eventually ruled that Cousin's testimony would be admissible, there was no need to "unring the bell" in the first trial. (Pet-App. 9.) The court also concluded that any issue with Cousin's testimony resulting from his being unrepresented by counsel was an issue for Cousin himself, not the State. (Pet-App. 10–11.) The court therefore remanded the case with instructions for the circuit court to dismiss it with prejudice. (Pet-App. 11.)

## **ARGUMENT**

This petition meets the criteria for this Court's review because the issue presented is a real and significant question of federal constitutional law and is a question of law of the type that is likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court.

This Court should accept review of the petition because the issue presented here—whether a mistrial caused by the defendant's own failure to abide by pre-trial requirements prohibits retrying the defendant—presents a significant question of federal constitutional law and is likely to recur unless the issue is resolved by this Court. Lower courts and litigants need guidance on how to proceed under similar circumstances.

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 11 of 15

A. Double jeopardy does not preclude retrial in cases where manifest injustice merits a retrial, and a finding of manifest injustice is left to the discretion of the trial court.

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution states: "No person shall . . . be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb . . . ." U.S. Const. amend. V. The Wisconsin Constitution contains the same protection in article I, section 8(1): "[N]o person for the same offense may be put twice in jeopardy of punishment."

The protection against double jeopardy shields a criminal defendant from successive prosecutions under certain circumstances: "Protection against successive prosecutions precludes both 'a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal[]' and 'a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction." *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 16, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (quoting *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969)).

Where a "manifest necessity" dictates the need for a mistrial, retrial of the defendant will not violate his right against double jeopardy. See State v. Seefeldt, 2003 WI 47, ¶ 19, 261 Wis. 2d 383, 661 N.W.2d 822. Whether a manifest necessity exists "is a matter of discretion for the trial court" because "[w]hether circumstances warrant the granting of a mistrial can best be ascertained by the trial court judge State v. Barthels, 174 Wis. 2d 173, 183, 495 N.W.2d 341 (1993). "In exercising its discretion, the trial court must examine the circumstances leading to the state's motion and should consider the alternatives before depriving the defendant of the right to have the original tribunal render a final verdict." State v. Collier, 220 Wis. 2d 825, 835, 584 N.W.2d 689 (Ct. App. 1998).

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it determined that a manifest necessity required a mistrial in Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 12 of 15

Green's original trial. The court's concern was twofold. First, the court noted the distinct possibility that if Cousin received the advice of counsel before testifying—as he should have—the jury would not have heard his testimony because Cousin likely would have been advised not to testify. (R. 86:9; 91:17.) Second, the court was concerned that Green's raising of a *Denny* defense without proper notice to the State was unfair to the State. (R. 86:9; 91:39–40.) For those reasons, the court concluded that there was no way to undo the effect of Cousin's surprise testimony, and that a mistrial was therefore "a manifest necessity." (R. 91:40.)

# B. The court of appeals improperly reversed the circuit court's discretionary determination that there was a manifest necessity for a mistrial.

The court of appeals erred in concluding that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion here. Key to the court of appeals' decision was the fact that the circuit court eventually found the *Denny* evidence admissible. (Pet-App. 9.) But the circuit court's decision had less to do with the admissibility of the evidence than it did with the fact that Green effectively ambushed both the State and the court by presenting Cousin's testimony without first providing notice during pre-trial proceedings.

The court of appeals' decision seemingly would have required the circuit court to hold the *Denny* hearing in the middle of trial, despite the fact that Green was required to present any third-party perpetrator evidence before trial. As support, the court of appeals cited this Court's decision in *Seefeldt*. (Pet-App. 9.) But *Seefeldt* decision does not impose such a requirement. Such an interpretation would leave meaningless pre-trial orders requiring the vetting of evidence ahead of time.

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 13 of 15

The court of appeals also disagreed that Green was required to present this evidence in advance. It reasoned that the State's motion in limine required only the disclosure of *unknown* third-party perpetrator evidence because it cited *State v. Scheidell*, 227 Wis. 2d 285, 595 N.W.2d 661 (1999), instead of *Denny*. (Pet-App. 10.) The court's reasoning on this point missed the mark for three reasons.

First, the State's motion in limine referred to "evidence involving a third-party perpetrator," not evidence involving an *unknown* third-party perpetrator. (R. 21:2.) Second, while *Scheidell* concerns unknown third-party-perpetrator evidence, it discusses *Denny* and known third-party-perpetrator evidence at length, making an interpretation that the motion in limine covered both types of evidence reasonable. *See Scheidell*, 227 Wis. 2d at 295–98. And third, the circuit court interpreted the pretrial motions and rulings—which were made in and by that court—as applying to *Denny* evidence.

The court of appeals also incorrectly dismissed the circuit court's concerns about the defense's treatment of Cousin as a witness. Although that treatment eventually led to the withdrawal of Green's counsel, the court of appeals simply dismissed the circuit court's concerns as being unimportant to the prosecution of Green; any remedy, the court of appeals reasoned, would flow to Cousin, not to the State. (Pet-App. 10–11.) However, the circuit court correctly pointed out that part of the reason that Cousin should have had the advice of counsel before testifying was to ensure that the jury did not hear evidence it would not have heard had the proper protocols been followed. More to the point, even if Cousin was entitled to a remedy because of his treatment by defense counsel, it was still reasonable for the circuit court to determine that Green should not benefit from that improper treatment of Cousin. In other words, the question with respect to Cousin is not simply one of protecting his rights; it is also

Case 2021AP000267 Petition for Review Filed 04-20-2022 Page 14 of 15

one of ensuring Green did not improperly leverage an unfair advantage in his trial.

At bottom, the court of appeals' decision calls into question several aspects surrounding circuit courts' decisions to declare mistrials. This Court's review is appropriate to clarify the implication of those questions, and to address a substantial constitutional issue affecting the State's ability to prosecute a serious sex offense.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed, the State respectfully requests that this Court grant its petition for review of the court of appeals' decision in this case.