**FILED** 05-05-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

## SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Appeal No. 2021-AP-267-CR

VS.

Case 2021AP000267

Trial No. 19-CF-914

MITCHELL D. GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Opposing review of a Court of Appeals' decision of March 22, 2022 arising from an appeal from a non-final order denying dismissal on Double Jeopardy grounds entered February 4, 2021 in the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, Honorable David L. Borowski, Judge, presiding

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN T. WASIELEWSKI Bar ID No. 1009118 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

### REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

The issue the State seeks to raise does not meet any of the criteria for review set forth in Wis. Stat. §809.62(1r). None of the attempts to shoehorn this case into the criteria in this rule are persuasive.

The State suggests this case raises a real and significant question of federal constitutional law. Pet. 5. This case concerns Double Jeopardy, and specifically whether the mistrial declared during Mr. Green's trial was justified by a manifest necessity under the specific facts and circumstances of the case. The Court of Appeals simply held that the trial court's decision to grant a mistrial was not supported by manifest necessity, and that therefore Mr. Green may not be retried. Pet-apx. 8, ¶17.

As the State acknowledges in framing the issue, the State seeks to have this Court review whether the Circuit Court "erroneously exercise[d] its discretion when it concluded that there was a manifest necessity for a mistrial." Pet. 5. However, this Court has already set forth the standard for reviewing the exercise of discretion in determining whether manifest necessity supports declaring a mistrial. State v. Seefeldt, 2003 WI 47, ¶¶13 & 37, 261 Wis.2d 383, 661 N.W.2d 822. The Court of Appeals quoted *Seefeldt* and applied the standards this Court set forth. Pet-apx. 6, ¶16. The State does not challenge this standard or seek any modification of the legal standard this Court has

Filed 05-05-2022

set forth. Thus, a review in this case calls for not for any new doctrine, but "merely the application of well-settled principals to the factual situation." Wis. Stat. §809.62(1r)(c)1.

The State suggests the issue it seeks to raise is a "question of law" of a type likely to recur unless this Court resolves it. Pet. 5. However, as this Court has observed, determining whether a manifest necessity for a mistrial exists is a fact-intensive question. *State v. Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶37, 280 Wis.2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783. The State also asserts this Court could provide clarity regarding "the ability of a trial court to declare a mistrial when a defendant introduces evidence that was required to be noticed before trial." This Court's decision in *Seefeldt* provides such clarity.

In *Seefeldt*, defense counsel told the jury in his opening statement of warrants outstanding against a prosecution witness. *Seefeldt*, ¶5. The trial court found that this disclosure violated a pretrial order and that no curative instruction could remove the prejudicial impact of the disclosure to the State; the trial court therefore granted the State's mistrial motion. *Seefeldt*, ¶9. This Court determined that the witness' warrants "would likely have been admissible during trial," a fact the trial court had failed to consider when granting the mistrial. *Seefeldt*, ¶38. This distinguished the facts from otherwise similar facts in *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497 (1978):

Filed 05-05-2022

Similar to the case at bar, the trial judge in *Washington* granted a prosecutor's motion for a mistrial because defense counsel made improper remarks during his opening statement. However, unlike the case at bar, there was no legal theory under which the remarks could be deemed relevant and admissible at trial. Washington, 434 U.S. at 510-511.

Seefeldt, ¶23. Thus, this Court determined that the crucial consideration in determining whether manifest necessity exists is not whether a pretrial order was violated, but whether counsel's actions tainted the jury. The error in Washington tainted the jury, for the jury heard of evidence that could never be admissible. In *Seefeldt*, however, this Court determined that "if the warrants were admissible, there is insufficient jury taint to create the requisite manifest necessity." Seefeldt,  $\P 40$ .

Seefeldt was decided based on the apparent conclusion that in mentioning the warrants in his opening statement, defense counsel had violated a pretrial order. Seefeldt, ¶40. However, Mr. Green did not violate any pretrial order. The State's repeated assertions to the contrary are incorrect and unsupported by the record, as will be shown in the next section.

Filed 05-05-2022

#### MISSTATEMENTS OF FACT AND LAW IN THE PETITION

The mistrial in Mr. Green's case arose after the testimony of Jonathan Cousin. Pet-apx. 2-4, ¶¶4-9. Throughout the State's petition, the State repeatedly asserts or assumes that Mr. Green was required to provide pretrial notice to the State of the contents of Jonathan Cousin's testimony. In its criteria supporting review, the State asks this Court to clarify "the ability of a trial court to declare a mistrial when a defendant introduces evidence that was required to be noticed before trial." Pet. 5 (emphasis added). In its argument, the State asserts the mistrial was "caused by the defendant's own failure to abide by pretrial requirements." Pet. 10 (emphasis added). The State bemoans that the Court of Appeals' decision below would require a *Denny* hearing midtrial "despite the fact that Green was required to present any third-party perpetrator evidence before trial." Pet. 12 (emphasis added). The State asserts, without citation to the record, that "the circuit court interpreted the pretrial motions and rulings - which were made in and by that court - as applying to *Denny* evidence." Pet. 13.

No rule, law or pretrial order required pretrial disclosure of thirdparty perpetrator evidence in Mr. Green's case. The Court of Appeals in Denny adopted a rule that a trial court may prohibit the introduction of evidence of third-party guilt unless there is "a 'legitimate tendency' that the third person could have committed the crime." State v. Denny,

120 Wis.2d 614, 623, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984). This is a court-make rule adapted from *Alexander v. United States*, 138 U.S. 353 (1891). In adopting this rule, however, the *Denny* court announced no pretrial disclosure rule. The trial court in *Denny* had apparently ruled during trial after an offer of proof. *Denny*, 120 Wis.2d at 625. This Court reaffirmed *Denny* in a subsequent case involving a third-party perpetrator defense. *State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶52, 362 Wis.2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52. As in *Denny*, the third-party defense issue arose during trial after the State objected and the defense made an offer of proof. *Wilson*, ¶37. Nothing in *Wilson* suggests that the issue was not timely raised, or should have been raised prior to trial.

The State suggests that Mr. Green violated some pretrial order requiring disclosure of *Denny* evidence. The Court made no such pretrial order. At a pretrial hearing, the court noted that the State had filed motions in limine and other documents, but did not otherwise address the motions in limine. 73: 2. As the Court of Appeals explained, these motions in limine do not address *Denny* evidence and, even if they did, the State's motions in limine never became pretrial orders. Pet-apx. 8, ¶¶21-22.

Nor did the trial court ever cite any pretrial order violated by introducing Mr. Cousin's testimony. Certainly, the trial court expressed a desire to have had more argument and briefing on the *Denny* issue.

Res-apx. 107; 86: 30. (Mr. Green is filing an appendix with this response containing the trial court's mistrial decision, the decision denying dismissal on Double Jeopardy grounds and the decision and written order denying reconsideration of the order denying dismissal. Res-apx. 101-120.) The trial court asserted "this needs to be vetted in advance." Res-apx. 109; 86: 32. However, nowhere in the decision declaring a mistrial did the trial court ever cite a violation of a rule or order in introducing Mr. Cousin's testimony; further, the trial court never determined whether this testimony was admissible under *Denny*. Res-apx. 103-110; 86: 26-33.

At the hearing denying reconsideration of the motion to dismiss, the trial court never cited any rule or pretrial order which required the pretrial disclosure of Mr. Cousin's testimony. Res-apx. 114-120. Instead, the trial court noted that the "culture in Milwaukee [courts]" could be described as: "we all shrug our shoulders or everybody goes along to get along." Res-apx. 115-116; 91: 36-37. Thus, courts do not employ scheduling orders because they are "routinely ignored," and witness lists and discovery demands are frequently not filed, although the State "should" have filed a discovery demand "in a perfect world." Res-apx. 116; 91: 37. The trial court's ruling appears based not on the violation of any law of discovery and disclosure, but on the "culture in Milwaukee" in which, as in the movie *My Cousin Vinny*, evidence is

Filed 05-05-2022

simply turned over "because that's how it works." Res-apx. 115-116; 91: 36-37.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected the State's assertions that Mr. Green was somehow required to disclose before trial the contents of Mr. Cousin's testimony despite the State's failures: to investigate Mr. Cousin (who was listed on a defense witness list five months before trial); to file a discovery demand requesting Mr. Cousin's statement; to seek an order in limine to provide *Denny* evidence; or, to demand an offer of proof of Mr. Cousin's testimony prior to his testifying. Pet-Apx. 107-109, ¶¶20-24.

The State's repeated assertions that Mr. Green was obligated to make a pretrial disclosure of Mr. Cousin's testimony are legally incorrect and factually unsupported by the record.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Defendant-Appellant Mitchell D. Green prays that the Wisconsin Supreme Court denies review.